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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom 
Holding Company 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Kingdom Holding Company (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(together the “Group”) as at 31 December 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and other standards and pronouncements 
issued by the Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA). 

What we have audited 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise: 

● the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;
● the consolidated statement of income for the year then ended;
● the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
● the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
● the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
● the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant

accounting policies.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, that are endorsed in 
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the code of professional conduct and ethics, 
endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom 
Holding Company (continued) 

Our audit approach 
Overview 

Key audit matters ● Impairment review of indefinite life intangible assets
● Impairment review of equity-accounted investees

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where management 
made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved 
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, 
we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud. 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom 
Holding Company (continued) 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Impairment review of indefinite life 
intangible assets 
At 31 December 2019, the Group had indefinite life 
intangible assets, including goodwill and brand, 
which arose on past business combinations 
amounting to Saudi Riyals 1.2 billion (2018: Saudi 
Riyals 1.2 billion) and Saudi Riyals 741.7 million 
(2018: Saudi Riyals 713.6 million), respectively. 

In accordance with the International Accounting 
Standard “Impairment of assets” (IAS 36), an entity is 
required to test indefinite life intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination for impairment at 
least annually irrespective of whether there is any 
indication of impairment. 

These intangible assets are monitored by 
management at the level of cash-generating units 
(“CGUs”) which are the relevant operating activities of 
the Group. Management carried out an impairment 
exercise in respect of indefinite useful life intangible 
assets allocated to each CGU by determining a 
recoverable amount based on fair value less costs of 
disposal of each CGU based on a discounted cash flow 
model, which utilized the most recent five-year 
business plan prepared by the management. The 
outcome of this exercise as at 31 December 2019 did 
not result in any impairment loss to be recognized. 

We considered impairment testing of indefinite life 
intangible assets performed by management as a key 
audit matter since the assessment of the recoverable 
amount under the fair value less costs of disposal 
basis requires considerable judgment around use of 
estimates on the part of management. The critical 
judgmental elements of management’s assessment 
were: 
(a) revenue growth and EBITDA margin 

assumptions; and 
(b) Pre-tax discount rates and terminal capitalization

rates used in the cash flow models.

Refer to Note 4.11 and Note 4.18 for the accounting 
policies, Note 3.1 for the significant estimate and Note 
15 for the related disclosure in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. 

We assessed management’s impairment assessment 
of indefinite life intangible assets by performing the 
following procedures: 

● Assessed the methodology used by
management to determine a recoverable value
of each CGU and compared it to that required
by IAS 36. We also tested the arithmetical
accuracy of the models used and logical
integrity of the underlying calculations;

● Tested the reasonableness of the cash flow
projections by comparison to the CGU’s
historical results and underlying assumptions
supporting the growth in forecasted cash flows;

● Engaged our internal valuation experts to
assist in the review of the valuation
methodology and use of certain assumptions
including pre-tax discount rates and terminal
capitalization rates; and

● Performed sensitivity analyses over key
assumptions as disclosed in Note 15 to the
accompanying consolidated financial
statements in order to assess the potential
impact of a range of possible outcomes.

We also reviewed the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures included in the notes to the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom 
Holding Company (continued)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 

matter 

Impairment review of equity-accounted 
investees (Accor and NAS) 

At 31 December 2019, the Group had an investment 
in Accor amounting Saudi Riyals 4 billion (2018: 
Saudi Riyals 4 billion) and investment in NAS 
amounting to Saudi Riyals 1.6 billion (2018: Saudi 
Riyals 1.6 billion). 

In accordance with the International Accounting 
Standard “Impairment of assets” (IAS 36), an entity 
is required to perform impairment reviews 
whenever there is an identified trigger for 
impairment. 

Management carried out an impairment review of 
both these investments by determining a 
recoverable amount based on valuation techniques. 
The outcome of this exercise on 31 December 2019 
did not result in any impairment loss to be 
recognized. 

We considered impairment testing of equity-
accounted investees performed by management as 
a key audit matter since the assessment of the 
recoverable amount requires considerable 
judgment around use of estimates on the part of 
management. The critical judgmental elements of 
management’s assessment were: 

(a) In the case of Accor, use of analysts’ report to
determine an average target price and
application of a premium to such average target
price;

(b) In the case of NAS, expected revenue growth,
EBITDA margins, pre-tax discount rate and
long-term growth rate used in the discounted
cash flow model.

Refer to Note 4.2 and Note 4.18 for the accounting 
policies, Note 3.1 for the significant estimate and Note 
12 for the related disclosure in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. 

We assessed management’s impairment 
assessment of equity-accounted investees by 
performing the following procedures: 

● Assessed the methodology used by 
management to determine the recoverable 
value and compared it to that required by the 
accounting standards. We also tested the 
arithmetical accuracy of the model used for 
NAS including the logical integrity of the 
underlying calculations; 

● Tested the reasonableness of the cash flow
projections by comparison to  NAS’s historical
results and underlying assumptions
supporting the growth in forecasted cash
flows;

● Engaged our internal valuation experts to
assist in the review of the valuation
methodology, including the use of a premium
in the case of investment of Accor. In the case
of investment in NAS, our internal experts
assisted in the review of certain assumptions
including pre-tax discount rate and long-term
growth rate; and

● Performed sensitivity analyses over key
assumptions as disclosed in Note 12 to the
accompanying consolidated financial
statements in order to assess the potential
impact of a range of possible outcomes.

We also reviewed the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures included in the notes to the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom 
Holding Company (continued) 

Other information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report of the Group, but does not include the consolidated financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this 
auditor’s report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the Annual Report of the Group, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, that are endorsed in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements issued by SOCPA, and the 
applicable requirements of the Regulations for Companies and the Company’s By-laws, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Group’s audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom 
Holding Company (continued) 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, that are endorsed in 
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in  aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, that are endorsed in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

● Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

● Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom 
Holding Company (continued) 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Omar M. Al Sagga 
License Number 369 

31 March 2020 



KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY 
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(
A
ll amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated) 

As at 31 December 
Note 2019 :w18 

Assets 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,637,560 953,429 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") 6 3,763 
Trade receivables 7 492,064 477,985 
Prepayments and other current assets 8 193,131 206,360 
Due from related parties 9 98,436 129,431 
Assets held for sale 10 30,216 11,352 
Total cun-ent assets 2,152,132 1,815,325 

Non-current assets 
Investments at FVTPL 6 1,217,053 2,606,0 96 
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive 

income ("FVOCI") 11 11,502,427 7,873,434 
Equity-accounted investees 12 19,562,668 19,158,568 

Investment properties 13 4,253,279 4,198,664 
Property and equipment 14 6,855,011 7,114,581 
Goodwill and intangible assets 15 1,931,628 1,938,330 
Deferred tax asset 20 8,477 9,025 
Other long-term assets 16 58zzz63 is6,6za 
Total non-current assets 15,2182306 13,055,32! 
Total assets :!8 zazo z:l:l:} :Hz8Z0z6 26

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities 
Borrowings 17 1,986,094 4,021,510 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current 

liabilities 18 734,302 554,967 
Zakat and income tax payable 19 131,004 400,405 
Due to related parties 9 118,496 117,909 
Dividends payable 36 163,285 163,285 
Total current liabilities 3,133,881 5,258,776 

Non-current liabilities 
Borrowings 17 u,397,219 9,255,415 
Due to a related party 9 136,616 123,778 
Deferred tax liabilities 20 155,027 174,711 
Employee benefit obligations 33 153,538 180,955 
Other long-tenn liabilities 5o,2aa 22,220 
Total non-current liabilities 1118231333 2,z62,s42
Total liabilities 15,022,211 15,0 21,625 
Net assets aaia:taz222 2218�21°2!
EQUITY 
Share capital 21 37,058,823 37,058,823 
Statutory reserves 22a 775,606 733,589 
Retained earnings 945,004 1,271,981 
Fair value reserve for investments at FVOCI nb (7,420,869) (11,045,96 5) 
Other reserves 22b 118,562 {68,012) 
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 31,477,126 27,950,409 
Non-controlling interests 23 11866110:1 1,828,662 
Total equity 33,;M;l1222 22,842,071 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 57for01 an integral part of these consolidated financial statements, which have 

� 
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY 
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated) 

Revenues: 
Hotels and olher operating revenues 
Dividends income 
Gain on investments at FVfPL 
Total revenues 

Hotel and other operating costs 
Gross profit 

General, administrative and marketing expenses 
Impairment of financial assets 
Share of results of equity-accounted investees 
Other losses, net 
Income from operations 

Financial charges 
Profit before zakat and income tax 

Income tax 
Zakat 
Profit for the year 

Profit for the year attributable to: 
- Owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interests

Basic and diluted earnings per share (Saudi 
Riyals) 

Note 

24 
25 
26 

27 

12 a 
28 

29 

19 
19 

35 

Year ended 31 December 
2019 2018 

1,706,700 1,943,922 
215,6:u 173,169 

3o9,498 461,047 
2,231,819 2,578,138 

(1,110,059) (1,:342,330) 
1,121,760 1,235,808 

(494,238) (385,613) 
(71,825) (3,888) 

790,754 1,176,330 
(80,772) (461,447) 

1,265,679 1,561,190 

(614,409) (522,753) 
651,270 1,038,437 

(84,111) (73,516) 
(112,845) (264,u9) 
454,314 700,802 

420,168 681,633 
34,146 19,169 

454,314 700,802 

0.12 0.19 

The accompan}ing notes on pages 14 to 57 form an integral part of these consolidated tinnncial statements, which ha\'e 
boo, '"<lu,ri,cd fu, ;= by tl,e Boo,d ofD;-ra °" behat< of fue,h,��;gool � ;o bcl,otfS,•, :-:, 

C\i¥ 
' -
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IQNGDOM HOLDING COMPANY 
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless othetwise stated) 

Year ended a1 December 
Note 2019 2018 

Profit for the year 454,3:1,4 700,802 

Other comprehensive income / (loss): 
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit 
or loss 
Re-measurements of post-employment benefit obligations 33 1,441 (597) 
Net changes in fair value of equity investments at FVOCI ub 3,625,096 (3,267,013) 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss 
Share in other comprehensive income/ (loss) of equity-

accounted investees 12 a 192,852 (9,946) 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (21,230} {333.826) 
Other comprehensive income/ (loss) 3,72:i,152 t�.611.382) 
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year iz212,1za �2z210zfi80l 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year 
attributable to; 

- Owners of the Company 4,231,845 (2,916,515) 
- Non-controlling interests 23 17,628 5,235 

4,249,473 (2,910,�80) 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 57 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements, which have 
been authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on behalf of the shareholders and signed on its behalf by:

10 
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KINGDOM HOLDJNG COMPANY 
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUllY 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated) 

Balance at 1 January 2019 

Impact of adoption of ffRS -16 as at 1 
January 2019 

Balance at 1 January 2019 - adjusted 

Profit for the year 
Other comprehensive i11come/ (loss) 
Tota] comprehensive income 

Transfer to statutory reserve 
Decrease in 11011-controlling interests 

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 

Dividends (Note 36) 

Share Statutory Retained 
capital reserve earnings 

37,058,823 733,589 1,271,981 

{4221822 
322058,823 233,589 12222,294

420,168 

420,168 

42,017 (42,017) 

(655,941) 

Fair value 
reserve for 

invesbnents 
atFVOCI 

(u,045,965) 

{111045,965) 

Balance at 31 December 2019 37,058,82;3 775,606 945,004 (7,420,869) 

Equity 
attributable to 

shareholders 
Other of the 

reserves Company 

(68,019) 27,950,409 

(681019) 
(421182) 

2229012222 

(6551941) 
118.1,562 �126 

Non-
controlling Tota] 

interests equity 

1,898,662 29,849,071 

(49,1sz) 
128281662 2912221884 

--

,314 
,,, , �lt. Zil!l 

17,628 4,249,473 

(50,187) (50,187) 

(6551941) 
1,866,103 33,343,229

The accompanying notes on pages 14 lo 57 form a11 integr

�

l 1 of these consolidated financial statements, which have been authorized for issue by the Board of
Directors on behalf of the shareholders and signed on its b ialf y: \ 

_) 

(\Gk? -::: �=_;
�
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY 
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company} 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUI1Y 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated) 

Balauce at 1 January 2018 

Profit for the year/ 0oss) 
Other comprehensive income 
Total comprehensive Joss 

Transfer to statutory reserve 
Decrease in non-controlling interests 

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners: 

Dividends (Note 36) 
Balance at 31 December 2018 

SJ1are Statutory 
capital t'eserve 

37,058,823 665,426 

68,163 

37,058,823 � 

Fair value 
reserve for 

Retained investments 
earnings at FVOCI 

1,314,057 

681,633 

682,028 

(68,163) 

(655,941) 

(7,778,557) 

1,271,981 (11,045,965) 

Equity 
attributable to 

shareholders Non-
Other of the controlling 

reserves Company interests 

263,116 31,522,865 2,151,498 

19,169 

(2,916,515) 5,935 

(258,771) 

Total 
equitv 

33,674,363 

700,802 
,611,382) 

(2,910,580) 

-

(258,771) 

(655,941) (655,941) 
(68,019) 27,950,409 1,898,662 29,849,071 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 57 form an integral part of these consC\lidated financial statements, which have been authorized for issue by the Board of Direoto�3rehold,rn,ad sig"= ;,,�{1 �- �---

12 



KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY 
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(All amounts iu Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated) 

Year ended 31 December 
Notes 2019 2018 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Profit before zakat and income tax 651,270 1,038,437 
Adjustments [or non-cash item$ 
Impairment loss on equity-accounted innistee 12 200,000 
Share of results from equity-accounted im·estees 12 (790,754) (1,176,330) 
Loss / (gain) on disposal of equity-accounted im·estee 12.2 14,641 (196,368) 
Depreciation and amortization 13, 14 171,999 239,736 
Loss on disposal of properties and equipment 14 27,658 241,770 
Goodwill written off 15 15,000 320,046 
Unrealized gain on investments at FVTPL 26 (331,875) (452,335) 
lmpainuent of financial assets 71,825 3,888 
Other losses / (gains) 28 23,473 (6,867) 
Gain on sale of asset held for sale 28 (97,134) 
Finance charges 29,17 660,626 537,501 
Pro,ision for employee benefit obligations 33 10,521 2,023 

524,457 531,437 
Changes in operating assets and liabj)jties 
Trade receivables 12,:us (20,187) 
Prepayments and ot.her current assets 13,229 105,754 
Due from related parties 30,995 2,605 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities 156,410 253,558 

Due to related parties 13,425 (17,584) 
Mo,·ement in im·estments at FVTPL 1,720,784 (1,227,357) 
Other long-term assets (548,893) (18,108) 
Other long-term liabilities 22,21a 20,320 

1,945,565 (299,562) 
Zakat and income tax paid 19 (466,357) (394,384) 
Employee benefit obligations paid during the year 33 {32,�52) ,�,600} 
Net cash generated from/ (utilized in) operating activities 1,1321

756 {62a,516l 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from disposal of investments at FVOCI 71,149 
Addi lions to equity-accounted in\"estees 12 (94,231) (65,407) 
Di\·idends from equity-accounted investees 12 495,578 387,470 
Net proceeds from disposal of equity-accounted im·estees 38,250 749,251 
Additions to investment properties 13 (77,464) (2,945) 
Additions to property and equipment 14 (99,434) (106,5-13) 
Addition of intangibles (2.0) 
Disposals of property and equipment 96,029 165,653 
Disposal of assets held for sale 442;i5Z 132,8,23 
Net cash generated from investing acti,;ties 1031065 1,6;p,181 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACI1VITlES 
Proceeds from borrowings 17 6,757,514 2,230,360 
Repa:i,1nent ofborro,dngs, net 17 (6,475,925) (2,488,512) 
Dividends paid 36 (655,941) (491,956) 
Movement in restricted cash (7,149) 9,711 
Finance charges paid (734,151) (522,830) 
Transactions with NCI (50,187) 
Net cash utilized in financing acti�ities �1,165,sa2l (1,26J,22z2 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 676,982 (330,292) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year s1z,a;rz 1,1121622
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5 1z!l2!12;P2 81Z1JJZ

TI1e accompanying notes on pages 14 to 57 form an integral pa1t of these consolidated financial statements, whkh 
have been authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on behalf of the shareholders and signed on its behalf by: 
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY 
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated) 

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Kingdom Holding Company (the "Company'' or "KHC") is a Saudi Joint Stock Company ("JSC") 
operating in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Company was previously formed as a limited liability 
company and operated under commercial registration number 1010142022 dated Muharram 11, 1417H 
(corresponding to 28 May 1996). The Ministry of Commerce and Investment approved, pursuant to 
resolution number 128/S dated Jumad Awwal 18, 1428H (corresponding to 4 June 2007), the 
conversion of the Company into a joint stock company. 

The Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group") carry out activities through the entities listed below. 
The principal activities of the Group are hotel management and operations, commercial services, 
education, investment and medical services. 

The shares of the Company commenced trading on the Saudi Stock Exchange on 28 July 2007 after 
approval by the Capital Market Authority. 

The Company's head office is located in Riyadh at the following address: 

Kingdom Holding Company 
66th Floor, Kingdom Centre 
P.O. Box 1, Riyadh 11321 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had net current liabilities amounting to Saudi Riyals 681.7 million 
(31 December 2018: Saudi Riyals 3.44 billion). This is mainly due to current borrowings amounting to 
Saudi Riyals 2 billion, out of which borrowings amounting to Saudi Riyals 1 billion have been settled 
subsequent to the year end. Based on a review of the undrawn borrowing facilities, a review of the 
existing liquid investments portfolio and status of a new facility that is about to be secured, management 
is confident that the Group will be able to meet its obligations as and when they fall due. 

These consolidated financial statements (the "consolidated financial statements") were authorized for 
issue by the Company's Board of Directors on 30 March 2020. 

1.1 Kingdom 5-KR-11 Limited (KR-11) 

KR-11 is a fully owned limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The company's 
principal activity represents investments in international quoted securities, through its wholly owned 
subsidiaries. 

1.2 Kingdom 5-KR-100 Limited (KR-100) 

KR-100 is a fully owned limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The company's 
principal activity represents ownership and management of mutual funds, through its equity-accounted 
investees. 

1.3 Kingdom 5-KR-132 Limited (KR-132) 

KR-132 is a fully owned limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The company's 
principal activity includes holding investments in the following subsidiaries and equity-accounted 
investees that own and manage properties and hotels: 

Subsidiaries 
Kingdom Hotel Investments (KHI) - Cayman Islands 
Kingdom 5 KR 35 Group ( George V) - France (Direct and 
indirect ownership through KHI) 

Equity-accounted investees 
Four Seasons Holding Inc. (FSH Inc.) - Canada 
Accor S.A. - France (Note 3.2) 
Movenpick El Gonna 
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Effective Ownership Percentage 
2019 2018 

100 

100 

47.5 
6.1 

100 

100 

47.5 
5.8 
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY 
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated) 

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 

1.4 Kingdom 5-KR-114 Limited (KR-114) 

KR-114 is a fully owned limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The company 
holds 58.96% ownership in Breezeroad Limited, a company which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands 
which in turn holds a 100% ownership in Savoy Hotels Limited in the United Kingdom. 

1.5 Local and regional subsidiaries 

The Company also has ownership in the following local and regional subsidiaries and equity-accounted 
investees: 

Subsidiaries 
Kingdom Real Estate Development Company (KRED) -
Saudi Arabia 

Kingdom Investment and Development Company 
(KIDC) - Saudi Arabia 

Kingdom Schools Company limited (The School) - Saudi 
Arabia (Note 3.2) 

Fashion Village Trading Company limited (SAKS) -
Saudi Arabia 

Real Estate Investment Company (REIC) - Saudi Arabia 

Trade Centre Company Limited (TCCL) - Saudi Arabia 

Care Shield Holding Company (CSH) - Saudi Arabia 
(note 3.2) 

Medical Services Projects Company limited (MSPC) -
Saudi Arabia 

Consulting Clinics Center Company Limited (CC) - Saudi 
Arabia 

Medical Clinics Pharmacy Company limited (MCP) -
Saudi Arabia 

Consulting Clinic SAL (Clinic) - Lebanon 

Equity-accounted investees 
National Air Services (NAS) - Saudi Arabia 
Jeddah Economic Company (JEC) - Saudi Arabia 

Banque Saudi Fransi (BSF) - Saudi Arabia (Note 3.2) 

Effective 
Ownership 
percentage 

2019 2018 

100 100 

89.8 89.8 

47 47 

71.8 71.8 

69.4 69-4

70.6 70.6 

41 41 

100 100 

100 100 

99 99 

50-4 50-4

37.1 34.1 
33.3 33.3 

16.2 16.2 

Principal activities 

Real estate 
development and 

management 
Real estate 

development and 
management 

Education 

Wholesale and retail 
merchandiser 

Real estate 
development and 

management 
Real estate 

development and 
management & hotel 

management 
Healthcare 

Healthcare 

Healthcare 

Healthcare 

Healthcare 

Aviation 
Real estate 

development and 
management 

Financial institution 

The principal activities and the various segments of the Group are described in Note 34. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION 

2.1 Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards 
and pronouncements issued by the Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountant ("SOCPA"). 

2.2 Historical cost convention 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except 
for the following: 

• Investments at FVOCI and FVTPL are measured at fair value;
• Assets held for sale - measured at fair value less costs of disposal; and
• Post-employment obligation - stated at present value of obligations.

2.3 New standard and amendments to standards adopted by the Group 

The Group has applied the following standard and amendments to existing standards from 1 January 
2019: 

(i) IFRS 16 Leases

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 "Leases" from 1 January 2019, the effective date of the standard. It has 
resulted in almost all leases being recognized on the consolidated statement of financial position, as the 
distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right 
to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognized. The only exceptions are 
short-term and low-value leases. The accounting for lessors has not been changed significantly. The 
Group has opted for the modified retrospective application permitted by IFRS 16 upon adoption of the 
new standard which requires the recognition of the cumulative impact of adoption of IFRS 16 on all 
contracts as at 1 January 2019 in opening retained earnings. At 1 January 2019, the Group had operating 
leases commitments amounting to Saudi Riyals 2.6 million. The Group has completed an overall 
assessment of all its leasing arrangements to evaluate the applicability of these arrangements under 
IFRS 16 requirements. The final assessment concluded that there was an immaterial impact of adoption 
of IFRS 16 on the Group's consolidated financial statements other than the impact on its equity
accounted investees (see Note 12), which has resulted into an adjustment in Group's retained earnings 
as on 1 January 2019. 

(ii) Prepayment features with negative compensation - amendments to IFRS 9.

(iii) Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures - amendments to IAS 28.

(iv) Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2015 - 2017 cycle.

(v) Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement - amendments to IAS 19. 

(vi) IFRIC 23 uncertainty over income tax treatments.

The other amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognized in prior periods 
and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods. 

2.4 New standard and amendments not yet adopted by the Group 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 
31 December 2019 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These standards 
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group in the current or future reporting periods and 
on foreseeable future transactions. 
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3 USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting date and the reported amounts of revenue and 
expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and judgments concerning the 
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. 
The estimates and judgements that have a risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next twelve-month period are discussed below: 

3.1 Significant estimates 

Investment in equity accounted investees - impairment testing 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an interest in equity
accounted investee may be impaired. If any indication exists, the Group estimates the asset's recoverable 
amount. For further details refer Note 4.18 and Note 12. 

Goodwill and intangible assets - annual impairment testing 

The Group tests whether goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life have suffered any 
impairment on an annual basis. For the 2019 and 2018 reporting periods, the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating units (CGUs) was determined based on fair value less costs of disposal which require 
the use of assumptions. For further details refer Note 15. 

3.2 Significantjudgements 

Kingdom School Company 

The Group is the largest shareholder in Kingdom School Company while the remaining shares are held 
by twelve investors. The CEO of the Group is also the CEO of the Kingdom School Company. As a result 
of shareholder agreements, the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the company and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the 
activities of the company. The Group has therefore determined that it has control over this company, 
even though it only holds 4 7% of the voting rights. 

Care Shield Holding Company 

The Group is the largest shareholder in Care Shield Holding Company, while the remaining shares are 
held by five investors. The CEO of the Group is also the chairman of the Board of Directors of the 
company. As a result of shareholder agreements, the Group has legally enforceable voting rights for 
57.82% of company in the ordinary shareholders' meeting. The Group has therefore determined that it 
has control over this company, even though it only holds 41% of the shares of the company. 

Accor SA France 

The Group has a Board seat and other committee representations and actively participates in the policy 
making process of the company and it is the second largest strategic investor in the company. The CEO 
of the hospitality arm of the Group is the representative Board member and actively participates in the 
decision making process through his presence on the Board and through significant interaction with key 
management of Accor Hotels. The Group has therefore determined that it has significant influence over 
this entity. 

Banque Saudi Fransi (BSF) - Saudi Arabia 

The Group is the largest shareholder of the bank and has Board seats and other committee 
representations and participates in policy making process of the bank. The CEO of the Group is also the 
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of the bank. The Group has therefore determined that it has 
significant influence over the bank, even though it only holds 16.2% of the voting rights. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The significant accounting policies applied by the Group in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. 

4.1 Foreign currency translation 

( a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ('the functional currency'). 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Riyals which is the Company's 
functional and Group's presentation currency. 

(b) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the consolidated statement 
of income, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the 
consolidated statement of income on a net basis within other gains/(losses). 

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and 
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation 
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at FVTPL are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on 
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as at FVOCI are recognized in consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

• assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

• income and expenses for each statement of income and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

• all resulting exchange differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign 
entities, and of borrowings are recognized in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. When a 
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated 
exchange differences are reclassified to the consolidated statement of income, as part of the gain or loss 
on sale. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting 

i. Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the 
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group (See 
Note4.3). 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 
consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of financial position, respectively. 

ii. Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see (iii) below), after 
initially being recognized at cost. 

iii. Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognized at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognize the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in the 
consolidated statement of income, and the Group's share of movements in other comprehensive income 
of the investee in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable 
from associates are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. 

When the Group's share oflosses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the 
entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognize further 
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity. 

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group's interest in these entities. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted 
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 
Group. 

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the 
policy described in Note 4.18. 

4.3 Business combinations 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of 
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the: 
• fair values of the assets transferred;
• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;
• equity interests issued by the Group;
• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and
• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.3 Business combination (continued) 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by
acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the 
acquired entity's net identifiable assets. 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

The excess of the 
• consideration transferred,
• amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
• acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are 
less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognized 
directly in the consolidated statement of income as a bargain purchase. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any 
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income. 

4.4 Financial instruments 

(i) Financial assets

Classification 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income (OCI)
or through profit or loss), and

• those to be measured at amortized cost.

Classification of financial assets depends on the Group's business model for managing its financial 
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses are either recorded in the consolidated statement of 
income or OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on 
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the 
equity investment at FVOCI. 

Recognition and de-recognition 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date, the date on which the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are de-recognized when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.4 Financial instruments (continued) 

Measurement 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 
assets not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial 
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated statement 
of income. 

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group's management 
has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent 
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to the consolidated statement of income following the de
recognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income when the Group's right to receive dividends is established. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognized as revenues in the consolidated 
statement of income as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity 
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value. 

Impairment 

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the Expected Credit Losses ("ECL") associated with its 
financial assets carried at amortized cost. ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount 
which is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the time value of money and reasonable 
and supportable information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions. The financial assets of the Group subject to ECL are cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables and due from related parties. Also refer Note 32. 

De-recognition 

A financial asset or a part of a financial asset is de-recognized when: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass
through' arrangement; and either:

The Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

(i) Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognized at the time when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, these are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method. 

A financial liability is de-recognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expired. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income. The Group's financial liabilities include borrowings, dividends payable, trade 
payables, accrued expenses and other current liabilities and due to related parties. 

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position where the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.5 Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
include cash on hand, bank balances and short-term deposits, which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value less restricted cash. 

4.6 Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary 
course of business. They are generally due for settlement within 30 days and therefore are all classified 
as current. Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional 
unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognized at fair value. The Group 
holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore 
measures them subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

4.7 Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes expenditures incurred 
in acquiring the inventories, and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and 
condition. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average method. 
Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realizable value 
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

4.8 Assets held for sale 

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if 
it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing 
use. 

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 
value less costs of disposal. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent 
gains and losses on re-measurement are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Once 
classified as held for sale, property and equipment are no longer amortized or depreciated. 

4.9 Investment properties 

Investment properties comprise property held for capital appreciation, long-term rental yields or both, 
and are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
Investment properties also include property that is being constructed or developed for future use as 
investment properties. In addition, land, if any held for undetermined use is classified as investment 
properties and is not depreciated. When the development of investment properties commences, it is 
classified as "Assets under construction" until development is complete, at which time it is transferred 
to the respective category, and depreciated using straight-line method at rates calculated to reduce the 
cost of assets to their estimated residual value over their expected useful lives of 4 to 99 years. 

Maintenance and normal repairs which do not materially extend the estimated useful life of an asset are 
charged to the consolidated statement of income as and when incurred. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 
are recognized and presented separately within other losses - net in the consolidated statement of 
income. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.10 Property and equipment 

Initial recognition 

Property and equipment are recognized as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Group, and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Property 
and equipment are recognized and measured initially at cost. Cost includes the fair value of the 
consideration given to acquire the asset and any directly attributable cost. 

When parts of property and equipment are significant in cost in comparison to the total cost of the item 
and such parts have a useful life different than other parts, the; Group recognizes such parts as individual 
assets and depreciates them accordingly. 

Subsequent measurement 

The Group adopted the cost model to measure the entire class of property and equipment. After 
recognition as an asset, an item of property equipment is carried at its cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Depreciation 

Useful lives are determined by management based on the expected usage of the asset, expected physical 
wear and tear, technical and commercial obsolescence, legal and similar limits on the use of the assets 
and other similar factors. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the below useful lives 
and is recognized in the consolidated statement of income: 

Buildings and leasehold improvement 
Equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 
Others 

Number of years 
1 to 99 years or the lease term 

S to 13 
4 to 20 
4 to 14 

Land and assets under construction that are not ready for intended use are not depreciated. Leasehold 
improvements are depreciated on the shorter of useful life and lease term. 

De-recognition 

Property and equipment are de-recognized when they have been disposed or no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from their use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of 
an item of property and equipment is included in the consolidated statement of income at the time the 
item is de-recognized. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.11 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost upon initial recognition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with 
finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization 
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset, are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, 
and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with 
finite lives is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the expense category consistent with 
the function of the intangible asset. 

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 4.3. Goodwill and brands identified on acquisitions of 
subsidiaries are included in intangible assets. Goodwill and brands are not amortized but are tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that these might 
be impaired, and are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Gains and losses on the 
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill or brands relating to the entity sold. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is 
made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the 
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, being the operating 
segments. 

4.12 Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statement of income over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest rate method. Borrowing costs are recognized within finance 
charges in the period in which they are incurred. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

General and specific finance costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset are capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete 
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. There were no borrowings costs 
that required capitalization during 2019. 

Borrowings are derecognized from the consolidated statement of financial position when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount 
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration 
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in consolidated 
statement of income as other income or finance costs. 

24 



KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY 
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated) 

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.13 Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services, provided to the Group prior to the end of 
financial year, which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are presented as current liabilities 
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognized initially at 
their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

4.14 Zakat and income tax 

The Group is subject to zakat and income tax in accordance with the regulations of the General Authority 
of Zakat and Tax (the "GAZT''). Zakat, for the Group and its subsidiaries subject to zakat, is calculated 
based on higher of approximate zakat base and adjusted profit and charged to the consolidated 
statement of income. Additional amounts, if any, are accounted for when determined to be required for 
payment. 

Foreign subsidiaries and foreign branches are subject to income taxes in their respective countries of 
domicile, such income taxes are charged to the consolidated statement of income. 

Income tax based on the applicable income tax rate is adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. Deferred income tax is 
provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred 
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit nor loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been 
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 
utilize those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current 
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Withholding tax 

The Company and its Saudi Arabian subsidiaries also withhold taxes on certain transactions with non
resident parties in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia as required under Saudi Arabian Tax Law. 

4.15 Dividends 

Dividend payable is recognized for the amount of any dividend declared being appropriately authorized 
and no longer at the discretion of the Group, on or before the end of the reporting period but not 
distributed at the end of the reporting period. As per the corporate laws in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 
a distribution is authorized when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is 
recognized directly in equity. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.16 Employee benefits and post-employment benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this 
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Post-employment obligation 

The Group operates a post-employment benefit scheme plans driven by the local laws of the countries 
in which the Group entities operate. 

The post-employment benefits plans are not funded. Valuations of the obligations under those plans are 
carried out using actuarial techniques on the projected unit credit method. The costs relating to such 
plans primarily consist of the present value of the benefits attributed on an equal basis to each year of 
service and the interest on this obligation in respect of employee service in previous years. 

Current and past service costs related to post-employment benefits are recognized immediately in the 
consolidated statement of income while unwinding of the liability at discount rates used are recorded as 
financial cost. 

Re-measurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognized directly in other comprehensive income and transferred to other reserves 
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity in the period in which they occur. 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations resulting from plan amendments or 
curtailments are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of income as past service costs. 
End of service payments are based on employees' final salaries and allowances and their cumulative 
years of service, as stated in the laws of the respective countries in which the Group operates. 

4.17 Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.18 Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may 
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's 
or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs of disposal and its value-in-use and is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. 

Impairment losses are recognized in consolidated statement of income in expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset. 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any 
indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If 
such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset's or cash-generating unit's recoverable amount. A 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions 
used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The 
reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment 
loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income. 

4.19 Fair value measurement 

The Group measures its financial instruments at fair value at the reporting date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 
interest. The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

4.20 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
not recognized for future operating losses. 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations 
may be small. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present 
value is a pre-zakat and income tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognized as interest expense. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the consolidated 
statement of income. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.21 Revenue recognition 

The Group recognizes revenue from contracts with customers based on a five step model as set out in 
IFRS 15. 

i. Identify the contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or
more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for every
contract that must be met.

ii. Identify the performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise in a
contract with a customer to transfer a good or service to the customer.

iii. Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a
customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

iv. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract that
has more than one performance obligation, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation.

v. Recognize revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation at a point time or
over time.

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time, if one of the following 
criteria is met: 

i. The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs; or

ii. The Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

iii. The Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternate use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance obligations completed to date.

For performance obligations where none of the above conditions are met, revenue is recognized at the 
point in time at which the performance obligation is satisfied. 

Revenue is recognized in the consolidated statement of income to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if and when applicable, can be 
measured reliably. 

(i) Revenue from hotel operations

Revenue is primarily derived from hotel operations, including the rental of rooms, food and beverage 
sales and other services from owned hotels. Revenue is recognized when rooms are occupied, food and 
beverages are sold and services are performed. 

Revenue is recognized net of returns, rebates, municipality fees and discounts. Service charges collected 
from the customers are recorded as revenue, as the Group is the principal / primary obligor and is 
required to provide the service to the customer in return for the receipt of the service charge. 

A receivable is recognized when the goods are delivered, as this is the point in time that the consideration 
is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due. Usually there 
are no rights to return attached, therefore no refund liabilities are required to be recognized. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.21 Revenue recognition (continued) 

(ii) Rental income

The Group owns offices, mall spaces, temporary spaces etc. The revenue is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease taking into consideration any incentives given, the rent received in 
advance, if any is recognized as contract liability. The rental contracts are relatively simple and do not 
contain multiple performance obligations. These contracts are fixed price contracts where the customer 
pays the fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If the services rendered by the Group exceed the 
payment, a contract asset is recognized. If the payments exceed the services rendered, a contract liability 
is recognized. 

(iii) Educational services

Revenue is recognized when the educational services are performed. Registration fees are recognized in 
the year the students commence their studies. Revenue is shown net of discounts and scholarships. The 
Group recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met. 

(iv) Health care

Revenue is generated primarily from the sale of pharmaceutical products and provision of inpatient and 
outpatient medical services to the patients. 

Some contracts include variable consideration such as rejection of claims. Management estimates 
variable consideration using most likely amount for rejections. Management applies one method 
consistently throughout the year when estimating the effect of an uncertainty on an amount of variable 
consideration in which Group will be entitled. In addition, management considers all the information 
(historical, current and forecast) that is reasonably available to the Group and identifies a reasonable 
number of possible consideration amounts. 

Revenue from sale of pharmaceutical products is recognised at point in time when goods are delivered 
and have been accepted by the customers at their premises. 

(v) Retail

Revenue is recognized when goods are sold and invoices are issued to customers. Revenue is recorded 
net of discounts. 

(vi) Fair value gains on investment measured at FVfPL 

The fair value gain and losses on investments measured at FVfPL are recognized as operational 
revenues as the Group invests in those equity investments as its operating activity in its normal course 
of business. 

Financing component 

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised 
goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the 
Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money. 
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4.22 Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: 

• the profit attributable to owners of the Group, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

• by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted
for bonus elements, if any, in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

The Group does not have any share options, uncalled or partially paid shares, deferred or convertibles 
notes and therefore there is no difference between basic and diluted earnings per share. 

4.23 Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any 
of the Group's other components. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the 
internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM"). 

Reportable segments are disclosed separately at least where, total revenue is more than 10% of the total 
revenue of the Group, or absolute amount of profit or loss is more than 10% of combined reported profit 
of all segments (excluding loss making segments) and combined reported loss of all segments (excluding 
profit making segments), or total assets are more than 10% of total assets of the Group. 

5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Short term deposits 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

Less: Restricted cash 
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash 

flows 

2019 

1,581,560 

56,000 

1,637,560 

(143,241) 

1,494,319 

2018 

952,448 

981 

953,429 

(136,092) 

817,337 

Short-term deposits are for varying maturity periods (between one day and three months), depending 
on the cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at floating rates. 

Restricted cash and bank balance are related to the restrictions placed by the banks for the utilization of 
certain funds. 

Included in the cash and cash equivalents is Saudi Riyals 313.9 million (2018: Saudi Riyals 60 million) 
deposited with a related party. 
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6 INVESTMENTS AT FVfPL 

The Group classifies those equity investments at FVfPL for which it has not elected to recognize fair 
value gains and losses through other comprehensive income at initial recognition. FVfPL investments 
consist of internationally quoted and unquoted securities. The movement in FVf PL investments is set 
out below: 

2019 2018 
FVTPL - current assets 
1 January 3,763 22,650 
Disposals (19,963) 
Changes in fair value 134 1,076 
Transfer to FVOCI (Note 6.1) (3 897) 
31 December 3,763 

FVTPL - non-current assets 
1 January 2,606,096 907,517 
Additions 1,247,320 
Disposals (1,698,407) 
Changes in fair value 309,364 451,259 
31 December 1,217,053 2,606,096 

Total FVfPL 1,217,053 2,609,859 

Certain investments are used as collateral against borrowings of the Group (Note 17). 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group invested Saudi Riyals 213.6 million, in an unlisted 
French music streaming company. In the same year the Group, purchased additional shares of one of 
the equity investments amounting to Saudi Riyals 846.3 million from the majority shareholder His 
Royal Highness Prince Alwaleed Bin Talal Bin Abdulaziz AlSaud ("illtimate controlling party") and also 
participated in a share issuance in one of the equity investments amounting to Saudi Riyals 187.4 
million. 

6.1 The shares of an investment at FVfPL were merged with another entity. The investment in that 
company was originally held by the Group at FVOCI, therefore the investment has been transferred from 
FVfPL to FVOCI. 

7 TRADE RECEIVABLES 

Trade receivables 
Less: provision for doubtful receivables 

Following is the breakdown of net receivables: 

Receivables from guests 
Receivables from tenants 
Receivables from medical operations 
Receivables from real estate 
Receivable from others 

2019 

780,106 
(288,042) 
492,064 

2019 

118,633 
102,564 

75,506 
185,037 

10,324 
492,064 

2018 

644,577 
(166,592) 
477,985 

2018 

94,952 

63,957 
178,972 

107,848 
32,256 

477,985 

Due to the short-term nature of the trade receivables, their carrying amount is not significantly different 
from their fair value. Also see Note 32. 

Trade receivables are expected, on the basis of experience, to be fully recoverable. Generally, it is not the 
practice of the Group to obtain collateral over trade receivables. Thus, trade receivable balances are 
unsecured. 
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8 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
Inventories (note 8.1) 
Advances to suppliers 
Value Added Tax claims receivable 

8.1 The breakup of inventories is as follows: 

Food, beverages and operational supplies 
Medical supplies 
Spare parts 

Others 
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2019 2018 

99,446 118,886 
63,511 79,978 

27,648 5,320 
2,526 2,176 

193,131 206,360 

2019 2018 

31,444 34,467 
30,998 44,100 

181 310 
888 1,101 

63,511 79,978 
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9 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 

Related parties comprise the shareholders, directors, associate companies and key management 
personnel. Related parties also include entities in which certain directors or senior management have 
an interest. 

The transactions with related parties represent rental services, management fee, maintenance and other 
general services rendered to or purchased from related parties of the Group. Balances due to and due 
from related parties are outstanding balances in lieu of such transactions. Related party balances, other 
than those disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, as at 31 December are as 
follows: 

Due from related parties: 
Azizia Commercial Investment 
Company (Note 9.1) 

Fawaz Abdul Aziz Al Hokair & Co. 
Others 
Total 
Due to related parties: 
Current 
Kingdom Oasis 
Safari Company Limite 
Others 
Total 
Non-current 
Qatar Investment Authority - Katara 
Hospitality (Note 9.2) 

Relationship 

Affiliate 
Affiliate 
Associate 

Affiliate 
Affiliate 
Associates 

Non-controlling 
interest 

2019 2018 

90,000 90,000 
166 29,977 

8,270 9,454 
28,436 129,431 

100,000 100,000 
1,911 5,733 

16,585 12,176 
118,496 11z,9o9 

136,616 123,778 

9.1 The balance is due from Azizia Commercial Investment Company "Azizia" (an entity under 
liquidation). Amount due to the Group is recoverable as Azizia has liquid shares, the fair value of which 
is higher than carrying value of receivable. 

9.2 The balance represents a loan given by the NCI to one of the subsidiaries. The loan carries interest 
at the market rates and is payable in lump sum along with its external debt maturity date which is falling 
in November 2023. 

See Note 5 and Note 17 for bank and borrowings balances held with a related party that is an equity
accounted investee. There are no other significant related party transactions that warrant separate 
disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. During 2018, the Group entered into transaction 
with its majority shareholder. This transaction was approved by the Board of Directors on 10 September 
2018 (Also see Note 6). 

Key management compensation: 

The top 5 senior executives including the CEO and CFO (2018: 5 executives) are considered the key 
management, their benefits are as follows: 

Short and long-term benefits 
Others 
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2019 

26,101 
1,159 

27,260 

2018 

21,626 
897 

22,523 
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10 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 

The Group classified the following assets and liabilities of certain properties as held for sale: 

2019 2018 

Current assets 13,276 46,822 
Non-current assets 42,128 20,135 

55,404 66,957 

Current and other liabilities (24,458) (22
1
600) 

Net balance a0z246 :l:bJ�Z 

The properties classified as assets held for sale as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 have been sold 
subsequent to the year end at an amount equal to their carrying values. See Note 14 for the transfer from 
property and equipment. 

11 INVESTMENTS AT FVOCI 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income comprise equity securities which are 
not held for trading, and for which the Group has made an irrevocable election at initial recognition to 
recognize changes in fair value through OCI rather than the consolidated statement of income as these 
are strategic investments and the Group considered such election to be more relevant. 

(a) FVOCI investments consists of the following:

International 
Local and regional 

(b) The movement in FVOCI is set out below:

Cost: 
1 January 
Transfer from FVTPL investments (Note 6.1) 
Disposals during the year 
31 December 

Fair value reserve for investments at FVOCI: 
1 January 
Unrealized gain / (loss) during the year, net 
Unrealized gain transferred to retained earnings upon disposal 
31 December 
Net carrying amount 

2019 

10,923,035 
579,392 

11,502,427 

2019 

18,919,399 
3,897 

18,923,296 

(11,045,965) 
3,625,096 

(7,420,869) 
11z5°2z427 

The investments at FVOCI are denominated in the following currencies 

US Dollar 
Saudi Riyals 
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2019 

10,923,035 
579,392 

11,502,427 

2018 

7,228,478

644,956 
7,873,434 

2018 

18,990,153 

(70,754) 
18,919,399 

(7,778,557) 
(3,267,013) 

(395) 
(11,045,965) 
z,8Z3A3:l 

2018

7,228,478

644,956 
7,873,434 
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12 EQUTIY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES 

(a) The movement in investments in equity-accounted investees for the years ended 31 December is as
follows:

1 January 
Impact of adoption ofIFRS - 16 as at 1 January 2019 
1 January adjusted balance 
Additions during the year (Note 12.1) 
Dividends 
Disposals during the year (Note 12.2) 
Share of results 
Share in other comprehensive income/ (loss) 
Impairment loss recognized during the year 
Unrealized exchange loss income on translation 
Other 
31 December 

2019 

19,158,568 
(49,187) 

19,109,381 
94,231 

(495,578) 
(52,891) 
790,754 
192,852 

(76,081) 

19,562,668 

2018 

19,230,889 

19,230,889 
65,407 

(387,470) 
(577,883) 
1,176,330 

(9,946) 
(200,000) 
(144,582) 

5,823 
19,158,568 

12.1 During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group participated in a capital call by NAS, as a 
result of which the shareholding of the Group increased by 3%. 

12.2 On 21 May 2019, the Group sold its entire shareholding in Movenpick El Gouna (El Gouna 
Company for Hotels SAE) for a consideration of Saudi Riyals 38.3 million. The Group incurred a loss of 
Saudi Riyals 14.6 million (Note 28) on disposal. During 2018, the Group sold an equity-accounted 
investee amounting to Saudi Riyals 577.9 million to another equity-accounted investee, resulting in a 
gain amounting to Saudi Riyals 196.4 million (Note 28). 

(b) Details of equity-accounted investees at 31 December are summarized as follows:

2019 2018 
Effective Effective 

Investee name ownership% Amount ownership% Amount 

Banque Saudi Fransi 
("BSF")(Note 3) 16.2 6,451,659 16.2 6,125,517 

Four Seasons Holding Inc 
("FSH") 47.5 4,582,122 47.5 4,499,946 

Accor S.A. (Note 3) ("Accor") 6.1 4,039,478 5.8 4,040,808 
J eddah Economic Company 

("JEC") 33.3 2,796,251 33.3 2,798,942 
National Air Services ("NAS") 37.1 1,640,433 34.1 1,624,935 
Movenpick El - Gouna 29.3 49,926 
Others 30.0-35.0 52,725 30.0-35.0 18,494 

19,562,668 19,158,568 
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12 EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (continued) 

(c) Following is the summary financial information for the equity-accounted investments:

The summarized financial information below represents amounts shown in the equity-accounted 
investee's financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs. 

31 December 2019 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals Four 
millions) NAS JEC Seasons BSF Accor S.A. 

Non-current assets 1,585 10,142 11,164 52,424 37,236 
Current assets 891 1,093 1,597 125,725 21,139 
Non-current liabilities (1,680) (2,554) (649) (132,838) (16,798) 
Current liabilities (2!006) (306) (4!207) (12!364) (12!280) 
Equity (1,210) 8,375 7,905 32,947 29,297 
KHC'sshare 2,797 3,755 5,337 1,787 
Carrying a mount 126�0 22z26 �2582 6,452 �2039 

Revenue 4,249 878 5,206 16,988 
Net profit/ (loss) (20) (8) 370 3,115 2,035 
Other comprehensive income/ 
(loss) (�) (51) 12131 583 

Total comprehensive income/ 
(loss) (2�) (8) 312 �22�6 22618 

Share in total comprehensive 
income/ (loss) (9) (3) 1�8 688 160 

31 December 2018 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals Four 
millions) NAS JEC Seasons BSF Accor S.A. 

Non-current assets 564 10,248 11,013 86,558 39,218 
Current assets 995 221 1,543 103,643 16,152 

Non-current liabilities (265) (2,062) (4,138) (11,019) (14,741) 
Current liabilities (21322) (12) (686) (1�:81368) (131011) 
Equity (1,105) 8,388 7,732 30,814 27,588 
KHC'sshare 2,802 3,673 4,992 1,600 

Carrying a mount 11625 21Z22 11500 61126 11011 

Revenue 3,821 1,848 6,947 15,977 
Net profit/ (loss) (262) (12) 350 3,307 10,109 
Other comprehensive income/ 
(loss) (3) (10) (33) 31

Total comprehensive income/ 
(loss) (265) (12) 31° 31274 101110 

Share in total comprehensive 
income/ (loss) (90) (4) 161 530 588 

Among the equity-accounted investees mentioned above, BSF and Accor are listed entities. At 31 
December 2019, the fair value of the Group's holding in these associates as per quoted prices amounts 
to Saudi Riyals 7,401 million (2018: Saudi Riyals 6,131 million) and Saudi Riyals 2,891 million (Saudi 
Riyals 2,626 million), respectively. 
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12 EQUTIY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (continued) 

For Accor, management has concluded that there is no impairment required based on the following: 

(i) Accor is a highly profitable hotel group and distributes dividends on regular basis.
(ii) As at 31 December 2019, the quoted market price has improved from last year.
(iii) The equity-accounted investee has achieved its 2019 projected cash flows.

In addition, the Group has also supported the carrying value using the following: 

Method 
Target analysts' consensus price 
(From analyst consensus and 
forecast reports) with a premium 

NAS 

Approach used to determining fair values 
Under this approach management has relied on 13 well reputed 
analysts' consensus average target price of Accor. The analysts 
value the company using a combination valuation techniques. 
The Group has applied a premium of 24% to the average price 
noted above (2018: 24%). This premium is for the Board seat, 
committee's representations, participation in the policy making 
and governance rights. If the premium is reduced to 22.6% the 
recoverable value would be equal to the carrying value of Accor. 

The recoverable amount has been determined based on fair value less costs of disposal using discounted 
cash flow analysis. The cash flow projections are based on financial budgets that are provided by 
management of the equity-accounted investee. These cash flow projections are for a period of 5 years. 

The following table sets out the key assumptions made in performing the impairment reviews: 

Particulars 2019 2018 

Revenue growth - CAGR 9.3% 12.8% 

EBITDA margin - average 19.3% 17.8% 

Pre-tax discount rate 10.9% 11.5% 

Long-term growth rate 1.0% 2.0% 
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12 EQUTIY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (continued) 

NAS (continued) 

Management has determined the values assigned to each of the above key assumptions and their 
sensitivities as follows: 

Assumption 

Revenue growth 

EBITDA margin 

Pre -tax discount rate 

Long term growth rate 

Approach used to determining values 

The key factors, that the airline will continue its status as a 
leading low-cost carrier, capacity rate and number of flights, are 
based on management's assumption of achieving a stabilized 
level of performance considering the political and economic 
environment of the region in which the airliner operates. This 
also takes into account expect fleet size and expected load 
factors. 
Based on past performance and management's expectations for 
the future. 

Reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments and the 
region in which the airline operates. 

Reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments and the 
region in which the airline operates. 

The recoverable amount of the equity-accounted investee would equal its carrying amount if the key 
assumptions were to change, keeping other variables constant, as follows: 

2019 2018 
Particulars From To From To 

Revenue growth - CAGR 9.3% 8.6% 12.8% 12.7% 

EBITDA margin - average 19.3% 15.8% 17.8% 17.5% 

Pre-tax discount rate 10.9% 16.3% 11.5% 11.7% 

Long-term growth rate 1.0% -10.0% 2.0% 1.6% 
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13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

Buildings and Furniture, 
Land leasehold Fixtures and Total 

2019 improvements others 

Cost 
January 1 3,775,413 860,237 30,264 4,665,914 
Additions 77,464 77,464 
31December 3,775,413 937,701 30,264 4,743,378 

Accumulated 
depreciation 
January 1 451,995 15,255 467,250 
Charge for the year 18,234 4,615 22,849 
31December 470,229 19,870 490,099 
Net book value 3,775,413 467,472 10,394 4,253,279 

Buildings and Furniture, 
Land leasehold Fixtures and Total 

2018 improvements others 
Cost 
January 1 3,775,413 859,697 27,859 4,662,969 
Additions 51° 211°5 21215 
31December azZZ�z�ta 86oz2az aoz26� �z66�z21� 
Accumulated 
depreciation 
January 1 431,798 11,363 443,161 
Charge for the year 20112z 31822 211082 
31December 1Q1,22Q 1Q,2QQ 16z,2Qo 
Net book value :lzZZiiz�1a �0812�2 1l;i2002 �1128166� 

Certain investment properties have been collateralized against term loans (Note 17). 
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14 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Buildings and Furniture, 
leasehold fixtures 

Land improvements Equipment and others Total 
20 19 
Cost 
1 January 2,321,6 40 5,26 2,114 213,6 96 771,88 4 8 ,56 9,334 
Additions 45,550 23,922 29,96 2 99,434 
Disposals, currency 

translation and others 28!203 (250!620 ) (21i352) (135i251) (3z2io2z) 
31December 2z3fi0zfi�a fiz0ii6z2Z� 216 22fi2 66iiz82fi 8z282z6z1 

Accumulated depreciation 
1 January 88 3,0 93 10 1,0 78 470 ,58 2 1,454,753 
Charge for the year 80 ,6 96 24,379 44,0 75 149,150 

Disposals, currency 
translation and others (73i 395) (212352) (742�82) (16222�3) 

31December 820232� 10�2028 ��0 2168 12�3�2660 

Net book value 22350 2543 42166 2580 112216 1 2252727 6 28 5520 11

Buildings and Furniture, 
leasehold fixtures 

Land improvements Equipment and others Total 
20 18 

Cost 
1 January 2,627,960 5,636,528 270,314 997,561 9,532,363 
Additions 60,824 14,821 30,898 106,543 
Disposals and others (306,320) (435,238) (71,439) (256,575) (1,069,572) 
31December 2,321,640 5,262,114 213,696 771,884 8,569,334 

Accumulated depreciation 
1January 916,412 136,242 515,630 1,568,284 
Charge for the year 106,417 26,066 83,164 215,647 
Disposals and others (139,736) (61,230) (128,212) (329,178) 
31December 883,093 101,078 470,582 1,454,753 

Net book value 2,321,640 4,379,021 112,618 301,302 7,114,581 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group sold certain properties at a loss amounting to Saudi 
Riyals 27.7 million (2018: Saudi Riyals 241.8 million). Also, in 2018, another property was classified as 
held for sale. Also see Note 10. 
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15 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill and intangible assets comprise the following: 

Goodwill 
Other intangible assets 

Movement in goodwill and other intangible assets is set out below: 

1 January 
Goodwill written off 
Currency translation adjustments and others 
31 December 

2019 

1,189,732 
741,896 

1,931,628 

2019 

1,938,330 
(15,000) 

8,298 
1,931,628 

2018 

1,224,746 
713,584 

1,938,330 

2018 

2,394,212 
(320,046) 
(135,836) 

1,938,330 

Goodwill recognized by the Group mainly represents an amount of Saudi Riyals 1.2 billion (31 December 
2018: Saudi Riyals 1.2 billion) recognized on its cash generating unit -George V. 

Other intangible assets includes an indefinite life brand amounting to Saudi Riyals 741.7 million (2018: 
Saudi Riyals 713.6 million) recognized on acquisition of Savoy Hotels Limited. The indefinite life is due 
to the fact that the hotel is considered a trophy asset and management concluded that the benefits will 
be for an indefinite period. Therefore, the brand is not amortized but tested for impairment annually. 

During 2019, in line with the disposal of properties and equipment (Note 14), the Group has written-off 
the related goodwill allocated to this property amounting to Saudi Riyals 15 million. During 2018 the 
Group sold properties and equipment and wrote off related goodwill amounting to Saudi Riyals 320 
million. 

Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over their useful economic lives ranging from 3 to 5 
years. 

Impairment of indefinite life assets 

The recoverable amounts have been determined based on fair value less costs of disposal, using 
discounted cash flow analysis. The hotel is the lowest level within the Group at which the intangible asset 
is monitored for internal management purposes. The cash flow projections are based on financial 
budgets that are approved by management of the respective entities. These cash flow projections are for 
a period of 5 years. 

The following table sets out the key assumptions made in performing the impairment reviews: 

GeorgeV GeorgeV Savoy Savoy 
Particulars 2019 2018 2019 2018 

Revenue growth - CAGR 4.9% 4.1% 5.7% 4.9% 
EBITDA margin - average 29.6% 29.1% 29.0% 28.2% 
Terminal capitalization rate 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 2.9% 
Pre-tax discount rate 6.5% 6.5% 6.5% 6.5% 
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15 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 

Impairment of indefinite life assets (continued) 

Assumption 

Revenue growth 

EBITDA margin 

Terminal capitalization rate 

Pre-tax discount rate 

Approach used to determining values 

The key factors, that the hotels will continue their status as 
premier hotels, occupancy rate and average rate per rooms, are 
based on management's assumption of achieving a stabilized 
level of performance considering the political and economic 
environment of the countries in which the hotels operate. 
Based on past performance and management's expectations for 
the future. 
The rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry 
reports. 
Reflect specific risks relating to the hospitality business and 
countries in which they operate. 

As at 31 December 2019, the recoverable amount would equal its carrying amount if the key assumptions 
were to change, keeping other variables constant, as follows: 

GeorgeV Savoy 
Particulars From To From To 

Revenue growth -CAGR 4.9% 1.4% 5.7% 5.0% 
EBITDA margin - average 29.6% 15.5% 29.0% 26.2% 
Terminal capitalization rate 3.0% 6.5% 3.0% 3-4%
Pre-tax discount rate 6.5% 22.7% 6.5% 9.2%

As at 31 December 2018, the recoverable amount would equal its carrying amount if the key assumptions 
were to change, keeping other variables constant, as follows: 

GeorgeV Savoy 
Particulars From To From To 

Revenue growth -CAGR 5.3% 1.9% 6.6% 5.8% 
EBITDA margin - average 29.1% 18.1% 28.2% 24.7% 
Terminal capitalization rate 3.0% 6.8% 2.9% 3-4%
Pre-tax discount rate 6.5% 28.2% 6.5% 9.8%

16 OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS 

2019 2018 

Long term advances 555,223 151,364 
Refundable deposits 2,979 435 
Others 29,561 4,874 

587,763 156,673 

16.1 During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has written-off a long-term receivable 
amounting to Saudi Riyals 122 million. This amount was receivable for more than 5 years against sale of 
Group shares in one of its subsidiaries and management determined that it will not be able to recover 
this amount. 

16.2 At 31 December 2019, long term advances includes an amount of Saudi Riyals 150 million advanced 
to contractors for renovation work to be carried out in one of the hotel properties of the Group and an 
amount of Saudi Riyals 405 million paid as advances in respect of purchase of additional shares of 
certain subsidiaries of the Group. The legal proceedings for the transfer of the title of these shares in the 
name of the Group have not been completed. 
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17 BORROWINGS 

The outstanding borrowings balance is presented as follows: 

Current 
Current portion of term loans 
Non-current 
Term loans, including long-term revolving facilities 

The movement in the borrowings is as follows: 

1 January 
Additions 
Repayments 
Foreign currency translation adjustments 
31 December 

Unamortized transaction costs: 
1 January 
Additions 
Amortization 
31 December 
Net carrying amount 

Details of borrowings by entity are as follows: 

Kingdom Holding Company 
Kingdom 5-KR-11 Limited 
Kingdom 5-KR-35 Group 
Kingdom KR-114 Limited 
Trade Centre Company Limited (TCCL) 
Others 

2019 2018 

1,986,094 4,021,510 

11,397,219 9,255,4l5

2019 2018 

13,290,462 13,651,390 
6,757,514 2,230,360 

(6,475,925) (2,488,512) 
(101,676) (102,v6) 

13,47°,375 13,290,462 

(13,537) (28,285) 
(119,742) 

46,217 14,748 
(87,062) (13,537) 

13,383,313 13,276,925

2019 2018 

5,762,653 4,502,545 
4,125,000 5,245,591 
1,464,051 1,494,095 
1,318,019 1,269,472 

614,707 448,500 
98,883 316,722 

13,383,313 13,276,925 

As at 31 December 2018, borrowings from a related party amounted to Saudi Riyals 357 million. These 
were settled during 2019. Following is a summary of the Group's significant borrowings: 

Kingdom Holding Company 

Loans in Kingdom Holding Company ("KHC") were obtained from commercial banks and consist of 
several facilities including syndicated loans and revolving credit facilities. These loans carry borrowing 
costs based on Saudi Inter Bank Offered Rate ("SIBOR") and London Inter-Bank Offered Rate 
("LIBOR") plus a spread and are secured against certain investments of the Group. The aggregate 
maturities of these loans, based on their respective repayment schedules, are spread over a period of 5 
years. Loan agreements include certain financial covenants with respect to minimum tangible net worth, 
consolidated EBIT, consolidated net commission costs, loan to value ratio, minimum standalone and 
consolidated total assets, debt service ratio and interest coverage ratio. The Group has complied with all 
its covenants. The carrying values of the borrowings are denominated in following currencies: 

Saudi Riyals 
US Dollars 
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2019 

1,300,153 
4,462,500 
5,z621653 

2018 

1,392,735 
3,109,810 
4,5°2,545 
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17 BORROWINGS (continued) 

Kingdom 5-KR-11 Limited 

Loans in Kingdom 5-KR-11 limited carry floating interest rates, which are calculated on a base rate plus 
a spread based on the currency of the loan. The facilities are secured by certain FVOCI and other 
investments. The aggregate maturities of these loans, based on their respective repayment schedules, 
are spread over a period of 5 years. These loans are denominated in US dollars. Loan agreements include 
certain financial covenants with respect to minimum tangible net worth, consolidated EBIT, 
consolidated net commission costs, loan to value ratio, minimum standalone and consolidated total 
assets, debt service ratio and interest coverage ratio. The Group has complied with all its covenants. 

Kingdom 5-KR-35 Group 

Loan in Kingdom 5-KR-35 Group are secured by a mortgage over George V hotel property. The loan 
agreements include certain financial covenants, such as debt service coverage ratio, assets value 
coverage ratio. The Group has complied with all its covenants. The loans carry floating interest rates 
(based on LIBOR) and are due to mature by 2023. These loans are primarily denominated in Euro. 

Kingdom KR-114 Limited 

Loan in Kingdom KR-114 Limited have different maturities within the next two years and carry interest 
rates which are either fixed or floating based on LIBO R. These loans are denominated in G BP. The loans 
are secured through registered mortgages and liens over the Savoy hotel. Loan agreements include 
certain financial covenants with respect to debt service ratio and interest coverage ratio. The Group has 
complied with all its covenants. 

Trade Centre Company Limited (TCCL) 

The loan facility carries an interest rate based on SIBOR plus 2.75%. Loan agreements include certain 
financial covenants with respect to debt service ratio and interest coverage ratio. The loan facility is 
secured by a mortgage on tower (Kingdom Tower) land classified under property and equipment and 
investment property. AB at 31 December 2019, the Group was in compliance with its debt covenants. The 
facility is repayable in 30 quarterly instalments starting from 30 June 2019 and ending on 30 September 
2026 and the remaining amount to be repaid upon final maturity date of 31 December 2026. 

Other loans 

Other loans represent various loan facilities obtained by certain other subsidiaries of the Group. These 
facilities carry interest calculated on floating base rate plus a spread based on the currency of the loan. 
The facilities are secured against mortgage of properties and other assets. The aggregate maturities of 
these loans, based on their respective repayment schedules, are spread over a period of five years. These 
loans are primarily denominated in Saudi Riyals. 

18 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Accrued expenses 
Accounts and other payables 
Contract liabilities 
Advance from customers 
Security deposits 
Others 
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2019 

373,791 
142,014 
121,817 
40,880 
17,363 

38,437 
734,302 

2018 

205,547 
205,827 

22,631 
28,393 
49,717 

42,852 
554,967 
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19 ZAKAT AND INCOME TAX PAYABLE 

(a) Zak.at and income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of income consists of the
following:

Zak.at 
Income tax 
Withholding tax on foreign dividends 

(b) Zak.at

Note 

19(b) 
19 (c) 
19 (c) 

2019 

112,845 
19,431 

64,680 
196,956 

2018 

264,119 
21,565 
51,951 

337,635 

The zakat obligations for the year represent the estimated zakat due on the Company and its local 
subsidiaries. The movement in the zakat provision is as follows: 

1 January 
Charge for the year 
Paid during the year 
31 December 

2019 

370,031 
112,845 

(362,185) 
120,691 

2018 

437,771 
264,119 

(331,859) 
370,031 

Zakat for the year represents the amount due on the Company and its local subsidiaries. The significant 
components of zakat base under zakat and income tax regulations are principally comprised of equity, 
provisions at the beginning of year, long-term borrowings and adjusted net income, less deduction for 
the net book value of long-term assets and certain other items. The differences between the financial 
and adjusted net income are mainly due to provisions and other items which are not allowed in the 
calculation of adjusted net income subject to zakat. 

Status of final assessments 

During 2018 and 2019, the Company received assessments from the GAZT for the years 2011 to 2017 
resulting in additional zakat which were contested by management. Agreements were eventually reached 
with the GAZT for these seven years and two payments totaling to Saudi Riyals 344 million were made 
during the year. The Company has filed its zakat returns up to the year ended 31 December 2018 with 
the GAZT. The zakat returns for 2019 is not yet filed. There are no pending zakat assessments with GAZT 
as at 31 December 2019. During 2018, the Group settled its zakat and income tax assessments for the 
years 2007 to 2010 with GAZT by paying an amount of Saudi Riyals 200 million. 

There are no significant pending zakat assessments received in relation to the operations of subsidiaries 
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia by the GAZT. 

(c) Income tax

The Group's subsidiaries which are incorporated outside the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia are subject to tax 
laws of the respective country of incorporation. 

1 January 
Income tax charge 
Withholding tax on foreign dividends 
Paid during the year 
31 December 

2019 

30,374 
19,431 

64,680 
(104,172) 

10,313 

2018 

19,383 
21,565 
51,951 

(62,525) 
3o,374 

There are no significant pending income tax assessments or tax notices received in relation to the 
operations of subsidiaries in foreign countries by their respective taxation authorities. 
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20 DEFERRED TAX 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets relate to the following: 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Property, equipment and intangible assets 
Others 

Deferred tax asset (mainly on accumulated losses) 

21 SHARE CAPITAL 

2019 2018 

154,263 174,584 

764 127 

155,027 174,711 

8,477 9,025 

The share capital consists of 3,706 million authorized and issued shares at par value of Saudi Riyals 10 
each. 

22 RESERVES 

(a) Statutory reserve:

Articles 129 and 130 of the Regulations for Companies require companies to set aside 10% of net profit 
for the year as statutory reserve until the reserve reaches 30% of their share capital. 

(b) Other reserves:

The following table shows a breakdown of other reserves and the movement in these reserves during the 
year: 

At 1 January 2018 
Share in other comprehensive loss 
Actuarial losses on employee benefit 

obligations during the year 
Unrealized exchange loss for the 

year on translation 
At 31 December 2018 

Share in other comprehensive 
income 

Actuarial (losses)/ gains on 
employee benefit obligations 
during the year 

Unrealized exchange loss for the 
year on translation 

At 31 December 2019 

Share in other 
comprehensiv 

e income of 
equity

accounted 
investees 

(75,135) 
(4,667) 

(5,279) 

(85,081) 

201,294 

(8,442) 

107,771 

Exchange 
differences on 
translation of 

foreign 
operations 
and equity
accounted 
investees 

349,737 

(320,592) 
29,145 

(7,712) 
21,433

Re
measureme 

nt of 
employee 

benefit 
obligations 

(11,486) 

(597) 

(12,083) 

1,441 

(10,642) 

Total 

263,116 
(4,667) 

(5,876) 

(320,592) 
(68,019) 

201,294 

(7,001) 

(7,712) 
118,562 
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23 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 

This balance represents the share of the non-controlling interest in the following subsidiaries: 

2019 2018 
Total non- Share in total Total non- Share in total 

controlling comprehensive controllingcomprehensive 
Name of the subsidiary 

Trade Centre Company Limited 
Kingdom KR-114 Limited -

interest loss/(income) interest loss/(income) 

Breezeroad Limited 
Real Estate Investment Company 
Kingdom Hotel Investments 
Medical Services Projects Company 
Limited 

Kingdom Schools Company Limited 
Consulting Clinic SAL 
Fashion Village Trading Company 
Limited 

24 REVENUE 

735,246 

460,149 
352,260 

8,090 

235,027 
60,471 
24,535 

(9,675) 
1,866,103 

22,767 712,479 19,898 

(38,076) 498,225 (33,136) 
7,130 345,130 8,504 
3,417 54,859 (565) 

14,816 220,211 7,811 

7,197 53,274 7,509 
24,535 

377 (10,051) (4,086) 
17,628 1,898,662 5,935 

24.1 Following is the break-up of hotel and other operating revenues under different streams: 

Revenue from hotel operations - at a point in time 
Revenue from medical operations - at a point in time 
Revenue from renting of shops and apartments - over a period 
of time 

Revenue from tuition fees - over a period of time 
Revenue from renting of villas and apartments - over a period of 
time 

Revenue from other services - at a point in time 

24.2 Disaggregation of revenue from external customers 

2019 

1,097,559 
290,950 

161,574 
83,884 

57,393 
l5,340 

1,706,700 

2018 

1,337,948 
286,949 

130,774 
88,047 

60,314 
39,S9o 

1,943,922 

The Group is domiciled in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The amount of its revenue from the customers, 
broken down by location of the customers, is mentioned below: 

Location 2019 2018 

Europe 828,864 854,452 
Middle East 877,836 1,082,4zo 

1,706,700 l,943,922 

25 DIVIDEND INCOME 

2019 2018 

International 215,621 173,169 
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26 GAIN ON INVESTMENTS AT FVfPL 

Realized (loss) / gain on sale of investments at FVfPL 
Unrealized gain on investments at FVfPL 

2019 

(22,377) 
331,875 

309,498

27 GENERAL, ADMINISTRATIVE AND MARKETING EXPENSES 

Professional fees, net (Note 27.1) 
Employee cost 
Selling and marketing expenses 
Utilities and office expenses 
Repairs and maintenance 
Others 

2019 

156,085 
151,209 
74,659 
35,720 
22,633 
53,932 

494,238

2018 

8,712 
452,335 

2018 

7,380 
135,500 
39,646 
44,447 
25,158 

133,482 

27.1 As a result of the finalization of the Zakat assessments during 2019, management has determined 
that certain provisions for legal and professional charges are no longer required and therefore an amount 
of Saudi Riyals 73 million has been reversed during 2019. For the year ended 31 December 2018, upon 
finalization of the purchase price allocation of two subsidiaries, certain accruals for professional charges 
were no longer required and accordingly these were reversed. 

28 OTHER LOSSES, NET 

(Loss)/ gain on disposal of equity accounted investee (Note 12.2) 
Loss on sale of property and equipment and goodwill write-off 
(Note 14, 15) 
Impairment of equity-accounted investee (Note 12) 
Gain on sale of asset held for sale (Note 28.1) 
Other gains 

2019 

(14,641) 

(42,658) 

(23,473) 
(80,772) 

2018 

196,368 

(561,816) 
(200,000) 

97,134 
6,867 

(461A47) 

28.1 The asset classified as held for sale at 31 December 2017 was disposed during the year ended 31 
December 2018, at a gain of Saudi Riyals 97 million. 

29 FINANCIAL CHARGES 

Finance charges consist of interest payments on outstanding borrowings net of finance income, which 
is not significant for separate disclosure, arising from cash balance and short-term deposits held at 
banks. 

30 COMMITMENTS 

(a) Capital commitments

The Group has on-going activities to construct and renovate hotels and other properties, with various 
stages of completion. The total outstanding capital commitments relating to such developments as at 31 
December 2019 amounted to Saudi Riyals 265 million (2018: Saudi Riyals 278 million). 
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31 CONTINGENCIES 

The Group is a defendant in various legal claims arising in the normal course of business. Based on the 
information presently available, there are no significant claims against the Group requiring a provision. 
Management believes that the provisions maintained for such claims are adequate. Any additional 
liabilities including any potential zakat assessments (Note 19) that may result in connection with other 
claims are not expected to have a material effect on the Group's financial position or results of 
operations. 

At 31 December 2019, the Group has outstanding letters of guarantees amounting to Saudi Riyals 43.3 
million (2018: Saudi Riyals 42.5 million) issued in the normal course of business. In addition, the 
Group's share in the equity-accounted investees' letters of guarantees, credits and acceptance as of 31 
December 2019 amounted to Saudi Riyals 8.7 billion (31 December 2018: Saudi Riyals 9.1 billion). 

32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group holds the following financial instruments: 

Note 
Financial assets 
Financial assets at amortized cost 
Trade receivables 7 
Due from related parties 9 
Cash and cash equivalents 5 

Financial assets at FVOCI 
Investments at FVOCI 11 

Financial assets at FVTPL 
Investments at FVTPL 6 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
Accounts payables, accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities 18 

Due to related parties 9 
Borrowings 17 
Dividends payable 

2019 2018 

492,064 477,985 
98,436 129,431 

1,637,560 953,429 

11,502,427 7,873,434 

1,217,053 2,609,859 

637,622 434,005 
255,112 241,687 

13,383,313 13,276,925 
163,985 163,985 

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, 
interest rate risks and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize 
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out by senior 
management under policies approved by the Board of Directors. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant Group entity. Majority of 
the Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in the functional currency of the respective 
subsidiaries, therefore the related currency risk is minimal. At the parent entity level, the assets and 
liabilities are denominated in Saudi Riyals or US Dollars. The Saudi Riyal is currently pegged to the US 
Dollar, therefore there is no currency risk on US Dollars denominated assets and liabilities. 

49 



KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY 
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated) 

32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Interest rate risk 

The Group's main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable rates, which expose 
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group closely monitors the movement in interest rates and 
manages its risk accordingly. It is not a practice to hedge the interest rate risk. 

An increase / decrease in interest rate of 1%, with all other variables held constant, would have resulted 
in a decrease/increase in the Group's consolidated net profit amounting to Saudi Riyals 99.8 million 
(2018 : Saudi Riyals 97.6 million). 

Equity price risk 

The Group's listed and unlisted equity investments are susceptible to price risk, ansmg from 
uncertainties about fair values of investment securities. The Group manages equity price risk through 
diversification and setting limits on investments. The exposure to equity securities and its impact on 
equity is detailed in the table below with a % change in equity prices. 

Markets 
Investments at FVTPL 
Middle East 
Europe 

Investments at FVOCI 
US listed securities 
Middle East 

Markets 

Investments at FVTPL 
US listed securities 
US unlisted securities 
Middle East 
Europe 

Investments at FVOCI 
US listed securities 
US unlisted securities 
Middle East 

50 

2019 

1,003,503 
213,550 

1,217,053 

10,923,035 
579,392 

11,502,427 

12,719,480 

2018 

3,763 
1,720,918 

671,653 
212,762 

2,609,096 

7,183,418 

45,060 
644,956 

7,873,434 

Sensitivity 
Net Profit Percentage 
+-10,035 +-1% 

+ -2,136 +-1% 
+ -12,171

Equity
+-109,230 +-1% 

+-5,794 +-1% 
+ -115,024

+-127,195 

Sensitivity 
Net Profit 

+-38 

+ -17,209
+ -6,717
+ -2,135

+ -26,099

Equity
+ -71,834

+ -451
+ -6,450

+ -78,735

Percentage 

+-1% 
+-1% 
+-1% 
+-1% 

+-1% 
+-1% 
+-1% 

10,483,293 + - 104,834 
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and will 
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well 
as credit exposures to trade receivables and balances due from related parties. Credit risk is managed 
on a Group basis. 

Revenue from hotel operations are settled mainly in cash or credit card therefore the related credit risk 
is minimal. Revenue from educational services is also received in advance therefore resulting in low 
credit risk. There are no real estate sales during the year. For other receivables (arising from medical 
operations and renting of shops, villas and apartments), the Group assesses the credit quality of the 
customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk 
limits are then assigned. 

For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of A2 are 
accepted. Therefore, the ECL on cash and cash equivalents is immaterial. 

Balances due from related parties are usually considered to have low credit risk due to the low 
probability of default and collateral with fair value exceeding the carrying value of receivable. 

The receivables are shown net of allowance for impairment. The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified 
approach for measuring expected credit losses. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables 
are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a 
contractual payment. 

A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 60 
days of when they fall due. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles over a period of 36 months, 12 months and 24 
months for regular receivables from tenants, guests and medical operations respectively before the 
reporting date and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. Unless 
100% collateralized any receivables beyond the above-mentioned periods of the respective profiles are 
written off. 

The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on 
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has 
identified GDP and the unemployment rates to be the most relevant factors and has accordingly adjusted 
the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. 

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers 
and specific industry sectors. 

The Group evaluates the concentration risk with respect to trade receivables which are primarily located 
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA). Trade receivables balance comprises of 88% in KSA, 2% in GCC 
(other than KSA) and 10% in other countries (2018: 83% in KSA, 7% in GCC (other than KSA) and 10% 
in other countries). The nature of businesses of the Group owned entities does not expose it to credit 
concentration risk. 

The table at the start of Note 32 shows the maximum exposure to credit risk. 
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3 2 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. 

Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational 
expenses including the servicing of financial obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme 
circumstances that cannot be reasonably predicted, such as natural disasters. In addition, the Group 
has access to credit facilities. 

Cash flow forecasting is performed by management which monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's 
liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining 
sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group does 
not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. Such 
forecasting takes into consideration the Group's debt financing plans, covenant compliance and 
compliance with internal ratio targets. Also see Note 1. 

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into the relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in 
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

2019 

Borrowings 
Accounts payable, accrued 
expenses and other current 
liabilities 
Due to related parties 
Dividends payable 

2018 

Borrowings 
Accounts payable, accrued 
expenses and other current 
liabilities 
Due to related parties 
Dividends payable 

Less than 
1year 

1,9 21,761 

637,6 22 

118,496 
163,985 

2,841,864 

Less than 
1year 

4,122,582 

434,005 
117,909 
163,985 

52 

1 to3 
years 

6,615,487 

6,615,487 

1 to3 
years 

6,768,867 

6,768,867 

More 
than 3 

years 

5,655,7 21 

136,616 

5,79 2,337 

More 
than 3 

years 

2,908,110 

123,778 

3,031,888 

Total 

14,19 2,969 

637,6 22 

255,11 2 

163,985 
15, 249,688 

Total 

13,799,559 

434,005 
241,687 
163,985 

14,639,236 
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Capital management risk 

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 
to shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Group's capital management strategy is to maintain sufficient capital so that the percentage of debt 
to total asset does not exceed 60% of total assets (i.e. to maintain a 40% headroom). 

Capital management 

Total borrowings (Note 17) 
Total assets 
Debt to total asset ratio 

Fair values 

2019 

13,383,313 

48,370,443 

2018 

13,276,925 
44,870,696 

29.6% 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Group's financial instruments 
are measured under the historical cost convention, except for investment carried at FVOCI and FVTPL 
which are carried at their fair values. 

Fair value hierarchy 

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and fair value 
through other comprehensive income securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the 
reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid 
price. These instruments are included in level 1. 

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined 
using valuation techniques which maximize the use of observable market data and rely as little as 
possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are 
observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument 
is included in level 3. 
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

The following table presents the Group's financial assets measured and recognized at fair value on a 
recurring basis including their levels in the fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2019: 

As at 31 December 2019 
Financial assets 
Investments at FVTPL (non
current): 
- Middle East
-Europe

Investments at FVOCI (non
current): 
- United States of America
- Middle East

Total financial assets at fair 
value 
As at 31 December 2018 
Financial assets 
Investments at FVTPL: 
- United States of America
(current)

- United States of America
-Europe
- Middle East
Total (non-current)
Investments at FVOCI (non
current): 
- United States of America
- Middle East

Total financial assets at fair 
value 

Level 1 

10,923,035 
579,392 

11,502,427 

11,502,427 

3,763

7,183,418 

644,956 
7,828,374 

z,8321137 

Valuation techniques used to determine fair values 

Level 2 Level3 Total 

1,003,528 1,003,528 
213,525 213,525 

1,217,053 1,217,053 

10,923,035 
579,392 

11,502,427 

1,217,053 12,719,480 

3,763 

1,720,918 1,720,918 

213,525 213,525 
671,653 671,653 

2,606,096 2,606,096 

45,060 7,228,478 

644,956 
45,060 7,873,434 

2,606,096 45,060 l0,483,293 

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include, the use of quoted market 
prices resulting in level 1 valuations, observable market inputs and latest transaction prices resulting 
in level 2 valuations. 

Valuation process 

The Group has a team that performs / reviews the valuations of non-property items required for 
financial reporting purposes, including fair values of financial instruments. This team reports directly 
to the Chief Investment Officer (CIO). Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between 
the CIO and the valuation team at least once every six months, in line with the Group's half-yearly 
reporting periods. 

Changes in level 2 and 3 fair values are analyzed at the end of each reporting period during the half
yearly valuation discussion. There have been no transfers between level 2 and 3 and vice versa, during 
the year ended 31 December 2019. 

Fair value of other financial instruments 

The Group also has a number of financial instruments which are not measured at fair value in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. For the majority of these instruments, the fair values are 
not materially different to their carrying amounts, since the interest receivable/payable is either close to 
current market rates (mostly due to frequent re-pricing) or the instruments are short-term in nature. 
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33 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 

At1January 
Current service cost 
Interest expense 
Total amount recognized in profit or loss 
Re-measurements 

(Loss) / gain from change in financial assumptions 
Experience losses 
Total amount recognized in other comprehensive 
income 
Benefit payments 
At 31 December 

2019 

180,955 
9,530 
1,064 

l0,594 

(4,721) 
6,162 

1,441 
(39,452) 
153,538

2018 

177,059 
8,183 

910 

9,o93 

(4,044) 

3,447 

(597) 
(4,600) 

180,955 

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 19 'Employee Benefits', management has carried out an exercise 
to assess the present value of its obligation at 31 December 2019 and 2018, using the projected unit 
credit method, in respect of employees' end of service benefits payable under the local laws applicable 
to the respective subsidiaries and the parent company. Under this method, an assessment has been made 
of the employee's expected service life with the Group and the expected basic salary at the date ofleaving 
the service. 

Management has assumed average increment/promotion costs between 1.5% to 5% (31 December 2018: 
2% to 5%). The expected liability at the date ofleaving the service has been discounted to its net present 
value using an approximate discount rate between 2.5% to 4% (31 December 2018: 2.5% to 4.9%). 

34 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group organizes and manages its operations by business segments. Management treats the 
operations of these segments separately for the purposes of monitoring, decision making and 
performance assessment. 

Description of segments and principal activities 
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34 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 

The Group's primary operations are organized into the following segments: 

Equity investments International - The principal activity includes investments in international 
quoted securities 

Domestic and regional The principal activity includes investments in securities quoted on the Saudi 
Stock Exchange, regional Stock Exchanges and investments in associates other 
than real estate. 

Private equity 

Hotels 

Real estate 

Healthcare 

All other segments 

2019 
Total assets 
Total liabilities 
Total revenue 
Total operating costs 
Net profit/ 0oss) 

2018 
Total assets 
Total liabilities 
Total revenue 
Total operating costs 
Net profit/ 0oss) 

The principal activity includes investments in private equities, managed funds 
and other entities existing within the structure of the Group. 

The principal activity of this segment includes investments in subsidiaries and 
associates that are in the business of managing and owning hotel properties and 
related activities. 

The principal activity includes investments in activities relating to ownership 
and development ofland and real estate projects. 

The principal activity includes hospital, pharmacy and consulting clinics. 

The principal activities include operations of Kingdom School and other trading 
activities carried out by the Group. 

Equity Real All other 
invesbnents Hotels estate Healthcare segments Total 

34,660,928 6,408,997 6,603,375 444,788 252,355 48,370,443 
10,467,443 3,420,048 904,015 154,135 81,573 15,027,214 

525,119 1,097,559 218,967 290,950 99,224 2,231,819 
639,335 218,482 199,732 52,510 1,110,059 

353,687 (87,707) 147,563 23,896 16,875 454,314 

Equity Real All other 
invesbnents Hotels estate Healthcare segments Total 

31,665,898 6,705,194 5,684,373 526,150 289,081 44,870,696 
9,577,981 4,481,904 826,490 104,177 31,073 15,021,625 

634,216 1,337,948 191,088 286,949 127,937 2,578,138 
893,472 179,839 208,548 60,471 1,342,330 

879,395 (267,693) 75,668 12,598 834 700,802 

Management believes that the inter-segment transactions for the KHC Group are insignificant and 
therefore have not been disclosed. 

35 EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 has been computed by dividing the 
profit for the year by the total number of shares outstanding during 2019 of 3,706 million shares (2018: 
3,706 million shares). 

36 DIVIDENDS DECLARATION 

The General Assembly of the Company, in its annual meeting held on 20 Shawwal 1440H 
(corresponding to 23 June 2019), approved quarterly cash dividends distribution totaling Saudi Riyals 
656 million for the year as recommended by the Company's Board of Directors. The cash distributions 
have to be made to all shareholders on record as of the dates approved in the General Assembly meeting. 
The first, second and third dividend distribution was made to all shareholders on record as of the date 
approved in the General Assembly meeting. The fourth dividend distribution was made subsequent to 
the year-end. 

The General Assembly of the Company, in its annual meeting held on 20 Ramadan 1439H 
(corresponding to 4 June 2018), approved quarterly cash dividends totaling Saudi Riyals 656 million. 
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37 SUBSEQUENTEVENTS 

The existence of novel coronavirus (Covid-19) was confirmed in early 2020 and has spread starting from 
mainland China to most parts of the world. As at the date of the approval of these consolidated financial 
statements, several European countries, the United Kingdom and the United States have been impacted 
severely. Across the world, governments are taking different protection measures causing disruptions to 
businesses and economic activity, ranging from partial to complete lock down of countries. The Group 
considers this outbreak to be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event. The Group's investments in 
hospitality, airline and financial services, directly through subsidiaries or associates in the United 
Kingdom, France, Saudi Arabia and Canada will be directly impacted. This will reflect in the revenues 
and share of results from equity-accounted investees. As the situation is fluid and rapidly evolving, the 
Group does not consider it practicable to provide a quantitative estimate of the potential impact of this 
outbreak on the Group. The impact of this outbreak on the macroeconomic forecasts will be incorporated 
into the Group's estimates of recoverable amounts of its financial and non- financial assets, respectively 
in 2020. Based on a review of the existing liquid investments portfolio, the Group's debt commitments, 
committed undrawn borrowing facilities, and its ability to raise new debt and renegotiate existing 
facilities, management is confident that the Group will be able to meet its obligations as and when they 
fall due. 

The Board of Directors on 30 March 2020 proposed a distribution of quarterly cash dividends totaling 
to Saudi Riyals 656 million, subject to approval in the next Ordinary General Assembly meeting. 
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